Final

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

(Before a Referee)

CASE NO.: 74,030

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Petitioner,

vs.

FLORIDA SERVICE BUREAU,

INC.,

Respondent.

### RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

BERNARD B. WEKSLER, ESQ. 522 Gables International Plaza 2655 Le Jeune Road Coral Gables, Florida 33134 (305) 446-2826

FLORIDA BAR NO.: 086117

LAW OFFICES

BERNARD B. WEKSLER

#

# INTRODUCTION

Respondent, FLORIDA SERVICE BUREAU, INC., objects to the Referee's written Report recommending that the Respondent be enjoined from certain activities and from otherwise engaging in the practice of law. The original record should have been filed with this Court together with the Report.

The symbol "T" will be used to designate the 135 page transcript of the hearing. The exhibits introduced into evidence will be designated as they were in the trial court. The pleadings will be referred to by name. All emphasis has been added unless otherwise indicated.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On April 18, 1989, The Florida Bar as Petitioner, filed a verified Petition Against the Unlicensed Practice of Law in the State of Florida, charging the Respondent with engaging in the unlicensed practice of law in the State of Florida. The Petition referred to the Respondent as an "eviction service" servicing clients in Dade and Broward Counties.

The Petition further alleged that the Respondent performed one or more of various acts including: (1) offering legal services to the public through members of The Florida Bar, (2) maintaining control over the legal services that are offered and controlling who the clients will be, (3) being paid by the client for rendering legal services with a percentage being paid by the Respondent to an attorney, (4) employing lay personnel to assist the attorney, (5) retaining the clients' files and having access to the clients' files, and (6) maintaining and controlling all communications with the client.

The Florida Bar further alleged that such acts violated the spirit and intent of this Court's decisions in four (4) cases, i.e., The Florida Bar v. Sperry, 140 So.2d 587 (Fla. 1962); The Florida Bar v. Consolidated Business and Legal Forms, 386 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1980); The Florida Bar v. Mickens, 465 So.2d 524 (Fla. 1985); The Florida Bar v. Mickens, 505 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 1987). The Florida Bar prayed for a permanent injunction preventing the Respondent from engaging in the acts complained of and from otherwise engaging in the practice of law.

This Court issued an Order to Show Cause on April 21, 1989, requiring the Respondent to show cause why it should not be enjoined from the alleged practice of law. The

Respondent was served in Dade County on May 4, 1989. The Respondent's Answer to Petition Against the Unlicensed Practice of Law was mailed to this Court on May 22, 1989, and received on May 23, 1989.

In its Answer, the Respondent denied that it engages in the practice of law in the State of Florida. The Answer alleged that the Respondent is not an eviction service, but is an independent Landlord/Tenant consultant, and assists landlords in tenant evictions and rent collections. The Respondent's employees obtain information from the Landlord verbally and in writing.

The Landlord, not the Respondent, prepares the Statutory Three-Day Notice, with the Respondent posting or delivering the Three-Day Notice to the Tenant. The Respondent denied that it prepares any Complaints for Tenant Eviction. The Complaint is prepared by a licensed attorney, Jay L. Fabrikant, or a paid employee of Jay L. Fabrikant, under the supervision of the attorney. The Complaint is signed by the attorney for the Landlord. The Landlord client is aware that the preparation of the Complaint, and the legal services in the Court proceedings will be performed by the attorney.

The Letter Agreement form attached to the Petition as Exhibit "A" recognizes that Attorney Fabrikant is retained

3

to act as legal counsel for the Landlord client. The Respondent is not paid by the Landlord for any legal services. The Respondent does not fill out or complete any eviction forms, and does not appear in court or in any other judicial tenant eviction proceedings.

The Respondent's Answer denied that Attorney Fabrikant receives any percentage of the Respondent's fixed charges. The attorney receives a fixed fee for his legal services in preparing and prosecuting a court action filed on behalf of the Landlord client, and receives an additional fee from the Landlord client in the event of a final evidentiary hearing. It was admitted that the Respondent remains in contact with the Landlord during the eviction process, because Respondent performs varied non-lawyer services for the Landlord, such as courier services, and maintains tenants' communications regarding the arrearages, maintenance complaints, rent collections, rental charges, etc.

The Answer denied that the Respondent is in the business of offering legal services. The Respondent is not paid by any Landlord customer for rendering legal services. The Respondent recognized the authority of the four (4) cases cited in the Petition, but denied their applicability.

In concluding its Answer, the Respondent alleged that

the Letter Agreement attached to the Petition as Exhibit "A" had been submitted to The Florida Bar during the course of an investigation involving a member of The Florida Bar. The Respondent was never advised or informed by The Florida Bar that the Letter Agreement and the arrangement with a Member of the Bar placed the Respondent in an "Unauthorized Practice of Law" situation. The Respondent concluded that it was not engaged in the unauthorized practice of law, and offered to make any changes or adjustments in the course and conduct of its business in order to eliminate any such alleged improper activity.

#### EVIDENTIARY HEARING

An evidentiary hearing was held before the Referee, HONORABLE MARGARITA ESQUIROZ on August 7, 1990. The Florida Bar counsel, Scott Sakin, presented two (2) witnesses and offered seven (7) exhibits into evidence.

#### PETITIONER'S WITNESS QUINTERO

Witness Quintero, a police officer with the Sweetwater Police Department (Tr. 14), and who had been dismissed by the City of Miami Police Department (Tr. 40), testified that the Florida Service Bureau, Inc. in 1988 was licensed as a

Subpoena Service and as a Tax Service. (Tr. 15) He spoke to a gentleman, Norm Bragis, at the landlord/tenant section in the Dade County Courthouse, and obtained a computer print-out of court eviction cases involving Sabal Palm Villas Housing. (Tr. 19) The computer print-out introduced into evidence as Petitioner's Exhibit 3, refers to a code number, and did not list the name of the Respondent or the Respondent's President.

The witness did not review any court files. (Tr. 21)

On May 16, 1988, the witness traveled to the Dade County office of the Respondent. (Tr. 24) Three persons were inside the office, "two males and one Latin female". (Tr. 24) The witness did not obtain the names of the males. He stated that he had recently purchased an apartment building in the southwest area of Miami (Tr. 24), and that he had problems with tenants. (Tr. 24)

The witness pretended to be a landlord and visited the Respondent's office to, "see what services they were rendering". (Tr. 25) He spoke to Lollie, the Latin female. When he first observed Lollie, she was signing some checks and doing "eviction notices". (Tr. 26)

He asked Lollie what was needed in order to evict a tenant. (Tr. 27) Lollie told him that he had to get the tenant's name and address, and that such information would

be involved in an eviction notice. (Tr. 27) He told Lollie that he had a bad memory and asked her to write the costs on a piece of paper. (Tr. 27) She wrote the costs down on the letterhead of the Florida Service Bureau. (Tr. 27; Exhibit 4)

The witness described his conversation with Lollie:

"She told me that it takes a three-day notice, \$15.75. The entire case was going to cost \$178.50. That in case, after a three-day notice, they don't evict, they don't move out, the whole thing was going to be basically \$178.50, that's what she wrote in there." (Tr. 29)

The numbers were for the "entire eviction process" (Tr. 29) There were no further discussions between the witness and Lollie. (Tr. 29) He then left the building (Tr. 30) after taking a business card of Florida Service Bureau. (Tr. 30; Exhibit 5)

There was no mention of an attorney or any questions about attorneys or lawyers. (Tr. 31) Quintero did not know where the \$178.50 was going to go after he paid the only money Lollie asked for. (Tr. 31)

On cross-examination, the witness testified that he never returned to the building. (Tr. 32) He saw something on Lollie's desk that said law office. (Tr. 33) He did not

recall seeing any cards for Jay Fabrikant, attorney. He did not pay Lollie any money. (Tr. 33) He was not shown any type of agreement that would be entered into between a landlord and Florida Service Bureau and Jay Fabrikant. (Tr. 34) All of the information he obtained was verbal. (Tr. 34)

There was no discussion about attorneys. (Tr. 34) The witness did not ask for names of the two males who were in the office with Lollie. (Tr. 34) In the witness' written report of August, 1988, not introduced into evidence, the report stated that he could read "law office" on the top of a check he had seen on Lollie's desk. (Tr. 35)

The witness testified that he had seen some eviction notices, but did not know if a notice, "was a three-day notice or whatever it was". (Tr. 36) He described the difference between an eviction notice and a request as:

"to me, an eviction request is requesting to evict and notice is notification that you're going to be thrown out." (Tr. 37)

In the witness' written report of August, 1988, he referred to eviction requests, not to eviction notices. (Tr. 37) He did not take any samples of the so-called eviction requests. (Tr. 38) He did not know who prepared the eviction requests or notices. (Tr. 38)

He did not ask Lollie the name of her employer. (Tr.

38) He did not ask her who she was employed by.

"Because I was only there to find out exactly on the procedure that I needed to do in order to file an eviction notice, that's why I didn't ask her. (Tr. 39)

The witness was in the building for approximately twenty (20) odd minutes. (Tr. 39) He admitted that Mr. Norm Bragis at the Dade County Courthouse told him that Mr. Schwartz of the Florida Service Bureau had been filing eviction suits on behalf of attorney Jay L. Fabrikant. (Tr. 40)

# PETITIONER'S WITNESS RODRIGUEZ

Issac Rodriguez, paralegal/investigator/consultant (Tr. 41) did an investigation into the Florida Service Bureau in <u>June of 1990</u>. /1 (Tr. 41) He was contacted by attorney Sakin to make an investigation. (Tr. 42)

On June 4, 1990, he proceeded to the Florida Service Bureau office in North Miami. (Tr. 43), where he was introduced to Lollie Vasquez, identified by him as the office manager. (Tr. 44) He conversed with her in Spanish. (Tr. 44)

The witness told Lollie that he had some apartments on the Beach where the tenants were not paying their rent, and

Respondent objected to Rodriguez testifying in that the Petition herein was filed on April 18, 1989, verified as to the "facts" existing as of April 13, 1989. The Referee overruled the objection. (Tr. 43)

his building managers did not know what to do. (Tr. 45) Lollie told him that he could have the people out of the premises within twenty-one (21) days. (Tr. 46) She told him that certain procedures would have to be followed which would take twenty-one (21) days. (Tr. 46)

The witness posing as a Landlord, asked Lollie about the procedure involved. Lollie said that the procedure involved a three-day notice on the door. (Tr. 46) Then the tenant has three (3) days to respond. In the event the person does not respond by paying the rent, then a complaint would be filed at the courthouse. (Tr. 47) A process server would then have to personally serve the people. (Tr. 47) After the person had been served, it would then take an additional five (5) days for the person to respond. (Tr. 47)

Lollie told the witness:

"In the event that the people contested or fought the eviction, then they would get an attorney for me to go to a hearing for an additional \$100.00."

(Tr. 47)

The witness asked Lollie if he had to go to court or do anything. (Tr. 47) Lollie told him no, and that the only time that he would have to go to court is if the people argued or fought the eviction, and then there would be a hearing and there would be an attorney present, "that he

10

would provide for me". (Tr. 47)

Rodriguez did not leave any money or information with Lollie. (Tr. 48) He asked her to provide him with the fees in writing and her telephone number or business car. (Tr. 48) She gave him a blank Three-Day Notice form, and a Florida Service Bureau business card. (Tr. 49; Ex. 6) She advised him as to fees and charges, and that the charge for an attorney was \$100.00, in the event the person contested the eviction and an attorney was required to go to court. (Tr. 50) The Sheriff's fee was quoted at \$33.00, and the process server was \$26.00. (Tr. 50)

The transcript shows the following question by The Florida Bar counsel and the witness answer as follows:

- "Q. Who was going to fill out the paperwork for this eviction?
- A. She never made it clear to me. She said she was going to handle, give her the call, give her the name. She didn't make clear whether she was going to do it or someone else." (Tr. 51)

During cross-examination, the witness admitted that during his investigation he did not find Florida Service Bureau filling out any forms. (Tr. 58-59) He saw one complaint for an Artis Williams, but he did not know who signed the complaint, and whether the complaint was signed

by an attorney or not. (Tr. 59)

He did not pay Lollie any money. (Tr. 60) He did not request her to complete any forms for him, and she did not complete any forms for him. (Tr. 60) He did not discuss with her who would have to sign the Three-Day Notice. (Tr. 60) He never went back to Lollie or the Florida Service Bureau to have eviction papers filed. (Tr. 60) He was not requested to do so. (Tr. 60)

After witness Rodriguez testified, The Florida Bar rested its case. The Respondent moved the Referee to dismiss the case because The Florida Bar had failed to prove the allegations of their complaint. (Tr. 65) The Referee denied the Motion. (Tr. 71)

#### ATTORNEY JAY H. FABRIKANT

Attorney Fabrikant subpoenaed by The Florida Bar, but not called as a Petitioner's witness, was called as a witness by the Respondent. (Tr. 72) He testified that he was a Florida attorney licensed since October, 1973, with a specialty in landlord/tenant law. (Tr. 73)

During his testimony, he stated that Florida Service Bureau, Inc. was one of his clients. (Tr. 73) He has a private office in Dade County where the Respondent is located. (Tr. 74) He goes there on a daily basis to review

work that he does for the Respondent, and other landlord clients. (Tr. 74) He employs two people there, a Delores "Lollie" Vasquez, and a Claudie Alvarez. (Tr. 74) Lollie is employed on a part-time basis splitting her time with Attorney Fabrikant and with Florida Service Bureau, Inc. (Tr. 74)

The services performed by Lollie Vasquez for Mr. Fabrikant include talking to landlords who come in or call in on the telephone can give her information that is necessary to prepare a complaint or to complete a form in landlord practice. (Tr. 74) She does all of Mr. Fabrikant's typing pertaining to his landlord clients. (Tr. 75) She deals with tenants, talks to them, and acts basically as a legal secretary. (Tr. 75)

Mr. Fabrikant signs the complaints that are filed in connection with landlord tenant matters. (Tr. 75) He uses process servers to actually pick-up the forms, complaints, and summons, and deliver them to the courthouse. (Tr. 75) On occasions he has used Mr. Orville Schwartz of the Respondent firm as a courier to take papers to a courthouse. (Tr. 76) He attends the court cases. (Tr. 76) Nobody from the Florida Service Bureau represents the tenants in court. (Tr. 76)

The complaints are prepared by his two salaried

employees. (Tr. 76) He reviews the complaint, and if it is legally correct, he will sign the complaint. (Tr. 76) The vast majority of the landlords prepare their own Three-Day Notices, (Tr. 76), and have them served by their employees.

He receives calls in his Hollywood office opened to the public, and his private office in Dade County. (Tr. 78) He returns the calls. He provides the legal advice to the landlords and building managers. (Tr. 78) He did not know of any situation where the Respondent was giving legal advice to his clients. (Tr. 78) He has advised the Respondent not to give legal advice. (Tr. 79)

Mr. Fabrikant testified that when a client comes into the offices, and a complaint has to be prepared, the complaint will be reviewed by him and then it would be filed with Lollie telling the clients the time periods involved with the court processing. (Tr. 89) The files are kept in the office with Florida Service Bureau having been designated by the landlord as agent on various files. (Tr. 90) The open files are kept by Lollie's side, and the closed files are kept in his private office. (Tr. 91)

After Mr. Fabrikant concluded his testimony, The Florida Bar did not present any rebuttal testimony. The Respondent moved to have the Referee deny the request for relief on the grounds that the Petitioner had not proven

their case. (Tr. 92, 113) During argument, the Referee, over the objection of the Respondent, made the Letter Agreement attached to the Petition as Exhibit "A", part of the record as Court Exhibit No. 1. (Tr. 105) The post testimony motions were implicitly denied when the Referee announced at the conclusion of the hearing that a permanent injunction would be issued. (Tr. 126)

### REPORT OF THE REFEREE

The Report of the Referee entered on August 17, 1990, contained a Finding of Fact that the Respondent was not and is not a member of The Florida Bar. Under the title of "Narrative Summary of Case", the Referee found that the Respondent is an eviction service that also assists landlords in rent collection; that the Respondent advises landlords regarding legal matters, and that the Respondent is paid by the landlord/client for rendering legal services. The Report also stated that the attorney does not verify the information contained in any complaint, and does not establish any attorney/client relationship.

The Report does not contain any conclusions of law.

The Report's Recommendations are that the Respondent be found to have engaged in the unlicensed practice of law in Florida, and that the Respondent be restrained from: (a)

15
LAW OFFICES
BERNARD B. WEKSLER

offering to fill out eviction forms where the landlord orally communicates the information to be filled in, (b) offering to file initial tenant eviction complaints for corporations and landlords in residential eviction matters, (c) counseling landlords and the public regarding legal matters, and (d) from otherwise engaging in the practice of law in the State of Florida.

Florida Service Bureau, Inc. objects to the Report of the Referee and the Recommendations therein, and seeks review by this Court.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Referee's findings that the Respondent is engaged in the Unlicensed Practice of Law are clearly erroneous or wholly lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar has failed to prove its charges.

There is no showing by either the witnesses or the exhibits as to the nature or type of legal services performed or legal advice given by the Respondent, a licensed tax and subpoena service, and landlord/tenant consultant. There is no proof of fees charged by the Respondent for legal services. The Referee has disregarded the testimony of an independent licensed Florida attorney who testified that he prepared the necessary legal papers, provided legal advice, appeared in court, and charged fees for his legal services.

Hearsay testimony and exhibits were erroneously admitted into evidence by the Referee. The Petition was filed herein in April, 1989, and was never amended. However, the Referee permitted one witness/investigator to testify as to his investigation made in June, 1990.

The Referee erroneously failed to comply with  $\underline{\text{The}}$  Florida Bar Rule 10-5(c)(6) in that her written report did

# 17 LAW OFFICES BERNARD B. WEKSLER

not state any conclusions of law. In the absence of written conclusions of law, the Respondent is unable to object to same and to refute them. This is a denial of Due Process!

#### ARGUMENT

I.

THE REFEREE'S FINDING THAT THE RESPONDENT IS ENGAGED IN THE UNLICENSED PRACTICE OF LAW IS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS OR WHOLLY LACKING IN EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT

The Florida Bar charged the Respondent with six (6) instances of engaging in the unlicensed practice of law. The Respondent denied all of the instances with the exception of employing a part-time employee who is a part-time employee of an attorney, and who is paid by the attorney.

The Florida Bar has failed to prove its charges!

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