IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FIL H-) SID J. WHITE 20 1991 FER CLERK, - RIM 0 By. Deputy Cler

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Petitioner,

v.

FLORIDA SERVICE BUREAU, INC.,

Respondent.

030 CASE NO. 74,538

PETITIONER'S CORRECTED ANSWER BRIEF

Mary Ellen Bateman Fla. Bar No. 324698 THE FLORIDA BAR 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

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

The evidence supports the Referee's findings in Nos. 4, 5 and 6 (above) that legal services are being provided by the Respondent. No further argument in this regard will be offered here.

(11) "Respondent maintains the client's files and has access to the client's files."

Respondent argues that no files were introduced into evidence. This is correct. The evidence supporting the Referee's finding that Florida Service Bureau maintained the client's files and has access to those files is found in Mr. Fabrikant's uncontradicted testimony.

Mr. Fabrikant, when asked who maintains control over the files, responded that she (Lollie Vasquez) does. (TR 89)

Mr. Fabrikant explained further:

They're maintained in both places, sir. I have files at my office in Hollywood and they have files down there and if an answer is received by me on a case, as an example, the landlord tenant case is filed, as you probably know a tenant has five days to file written reasons or if they file copies sent to me, I then make two copies of that particular answer. One I give to Lollie to put in the file down there and besides the one I keep in my office in Hollywood and another copy I send to my clients.

(12) <u>"Respondent maintains and controls communication with</u> the client."

Respondent asks, "What communications?" and points out that communications can be about rental arrearages, building maintenance, collections, delivering Three-Day Notices, etc. and not with regard to legal advice.

However, the testimony of Investigator Rodriguez and Investigator Quintero indicated that conversations at the Florida Service Bureau, Inc. office tended to be about tenant eviction procedure and fees. Since Mr. Fabrikant's testimony was that 1) he has two offices and is not always available to supervise his employees, 2) that he responds to messages left by Lollie Vasquez, and 3) that he generally does not have contact with landlord/clients unless litigation takes place, the Referee's findings that Respondent maintains and controls communication with the client is supported by the evidence.

As recognized by the Respondent, the Referee's findings of fact should be accorded substantial weight and not be overturned unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary

support, <u>The Florida Bar v. Furman</u>, 451 so.2d 808 (Fla. 1984).

The line-by-line review of the Referee's findings of fact and the evidence in the record supporting those findings demonstrate that the Referee's findings were not lacking in evidentiary support.

The referee did not reach her findings of fact hurriedly or carelessly. After both parties had been given an opportunity at the final hearing to present their evidence, the Referee engaged in a lengthy discussion with counsel for both parties with regard to the evidence presented, the lack of evidence in some areas and her proposed findings and recommendations. Each party had an opportunity to point out the weaknesses and strengths of their case as well as their opponent's case. (TR 92-134)

After careful consideration, the Referee outlined her findings.

The Respondent may not agree with the Referee's conclusions but disagreement alone cannot justify overturning those conclusions.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Bennett</u>, 246 So.2d 107 (Fla. 1971) (a disciplinary case, not an unlicensed practice of law

case) the Referee reached a certain conclusion that the Court determined was supported by evidence in the transcript. However, the Court recognized that the Referee could have also reached a contrary conclusion. The Court approved the findings of the Referee on the conflicting facts stating that "the determinations of a trier of fact will not be disturbed by the reviewing court unless there is manifest error therein." Bennett, 246 So.2d at 108.

As there has been no manifest error shown by the Respondent in the instant case, the Referee's findings of fact should not be disturbed.

B. The Referee's Finding That The Respondent Is Engaged In The Unlicensed Practice of Law Is Not Erroneous

The Respondent argues that, under the established case law, there is no case of unlicensed practice of law against the Respondent and that the Referee's finding in this regard is erroneous.

The Respondent attempts to distinguish <u>State ex rel.</u> <u>The Florida Bar v. Sperry</u>, 140 So.2d 587 (Fla. 1972) judg. <u>vacated on other grounds</u>, 377 U.S. 379 (1963); <u>The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Consolidated Business and Legal Forms</u>, 386 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1980), <u>The Florida Bar v. Brumbaugh</u>, 355

So.2d 1186 (1978) and <u>The Florida Bar v. Mickens</u>, 465 So.2d 1186 (Fla. 1978) on the facts.

The Florida Bar recognizes that the cases cited in its Petition Against The Unlicensed Practice Of Law are not all squarely on point. In unlicensed practice of law matters it is the exception, rather than the rule, to have a case directly on point.

Instead of arguing the letter of the law, the Bar must often argue that the actions of a particular Respondent violate the spirit of this Court's decisions in other unlicensed practice of law cases. That is what the Bar has argued here with regard to the <u>Sperry</u> decision.

In <u>Sperry</u>, the Court set forth the closest thing we have in Florida to a definition of the practice of law. The text of the definition is included in the Respondent's brief so it will not be repeated here. (Resp. Brief 26) Basically, the <u>Sperry</u> decision established a three-prong test for determining if certain conduct constitutes the practice of law. The first question to be asked is whether the giving of such advice and performance of such services affect important rights of a person under the law. The second question to be addressed is whether the reasonable protection of the rights and property of those advised and served requires that the persons giving such advice possess

legal skill and a knowledge of the law greater than that possessed by the average citizen. Third, the advice or services must be for another as a course of conduct.

The <u>Sperry</u> test is used as a general standard for determining if certain conduct constitutes the unlicensed practice of law. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Brumbaugh</u>, 355 So.2d 1186, (Fla. 1978) this Court, after quoting the <u>Sperry</u> "definition" said, "This definition is broad and is given content by this Court only as it applies to specific circumstances of each case." Brumbaugh, 355 So.2d at 119

In <u>Brumbaugh</u>, as in the instant matter, the specific circumstances of the case involved a nonlawyer assisting customers with the preparation of legal documents and advising customers as to the costs involved and the procedures which should be followed. The Court recognized the "tendency of persons seeking legal assistance to place their trust in the individual purporting to have expertise in the area" and determined that Ms. Brumbaugh and others in similar situations may sell printed material purporting to explain legal procedure and sell sample printed forms. <u>Brumbaugh</u>, 355 So.2d at 1193. In addition, this Court found that it would not be improper for the nonlawyer to engage in a secretarial service and type forms for the clients, provided that she only copy information given to her in writing by her clients.

However, the Court found that Ms. Brumbaugh must not engage in advising clients as to the various remedies available to them or otherwise assist in preparing the necessary forms. Ms. Brumbaugh was prohibited from engaging in personal legal assistance in conjunction with her business activities, including the correction of errors and omissions.

The testimony of the witnesses and the findings of facts by the Referee demonstrate that Respondent's activities fall outside of the limitations on nonlawyer conduct as outlined in the Brumbaugh decision.

In addition to the <u>Sperry</u> test and the <u>Brumbaugh</u> opinion, the Court has set forth specific guidelines in the area of evictions in <u>The Florida Bar v. Mickens</u>, 465 So.2d 524 (Fla. 1985) (Mickens I) and <u>The Florida Bar v. Mickens</u>, 505 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 1987) (Mickens II).

In <u>Mickens</u> I, this Court approved the Referee's Report which recommended that respondent be permanently enjoined from filing initial tenant eviction complaints for residential and corporate landlords; counseling landlords regarding legal matters; filling out eviction forms where the landlord orally communicates the information to be filled in; and appearing in court or any other judicial tenant eviction proceeding.

As pointed out by the Respondent, the Referee noted that the respondent could file initial complaints on behalf of natural persons in nonresidential tenant eviction actions and could fill in eviction forms where the landlord furnishes the required information in writing.

In Mickens II, the referee found:

Chapter 83 restricts the role of a landlord's non-attorney agent in eviction actions exclusively to non-residential tenancies. In nonresidential tenancies, Part I of the chapter permits the non-attorney agent to file the initial complaint for distress of rent or tenant eviction. In contrast, residential tenancies are governed by Part II of the chapter, which states that only the landlord may file a complaint for eviction. Because Part II does not reference the provision in Part I for filing eviction or distress of rent actions and only addresses actions filed by the landlord, § 83.59(2), Florida Statutes, may be construed as excluding non-attorney agents from filing on behalf of a residential landlord.

Further, in matters regarding tenant eviction actions, a landlord's non-attorney agent may not: (1) counsel the landlord about legal matters regarding tenant eviction actions, (2) appear in court or in any proceeding which is part of the tenant-eviction judicial process, or (3) type or print information on tenant eviction forms unless the landlord gives such information to its non-attorney agent in writing. This Court approved the findings of the referee in <u>Mickens</u> II and enjoined the respondent from the activities set forth above. The Court directed that Mickens be immediately taken into custody and incarcerated in the Dade County jail for twenty days. Mickens was also fined \$1000.00.

Although Respondent argues that the instant cases is not a <u>Mickens</u> case, a review of the Referee's findings would dispute that argument. The referee found that Florida Service Bureau, Inc., among other things, advised landlords about legal matters, prepared a statutory three-day notice and offers to file a tenant eviction complaint on the landlord's behalf, fills out the eviction notice and complaint where the landlord orally communicates this information to Respondent--many of the same activities Mickens was enjoined from engaging in.

The Respondent's conduct as outlined by the Referee falls within the <u>Sperry</u> definition, the prohibited activities set forth in <u>Brumbaugh</u> and the specific prohibitions of the <u>Mickens</u> cases.

The Respondent has attempted to avoid the force and effect of these decisions by arguing that the "legal" aspects of the eviction service are actually handled by Lollie Vasquez under the supervision of attorney Fabrikant or by attorney Fabrikant himself. This assertion is contrary to

the evidence. Neither of the Bar investigators was informed of Ms. Vasquez' connection with attorney Fabrikant. Instead she held herself out as the office manager for Florida Service Bureau, Inc. and produced a business card to that effect.

The Referee was not persuaded by the Respondent's argument although there was much discussion with regard to Ms. Vasquez' appropriate role.

The Referee while making her findings stated:

Being able to hide behind somebody who is licensed to practice law on one hand and on the other hand providing legal services when you're not an attorney to do so, you're not doing so under the name of the attorney, that bothers me. (TR 121)

. . . you're creating a situation where you're creating a lot of confusion . . . in the minds of the public, I am sure. Either directly, expressly or implicitly representing that you're engaging in the practice of law. (TR 125)

As the Respondent's activities fall within the case law on the subject and the Respondent cannot avoid the unlicensed practice of law rules by hiding behind attorney Fabrikant's shingle, the Referee's findings are not erroneous and should be approved.

II. THE EVIDENCE ADMITTED BY THE REFEREE WAS PROPERLY CONSIDERED FOR ITS RELIABILITY AND PROBATIVE VALUE

The Respondent raises several objections concerning certain testimony and exhibits admitted by the Referee into evidence.

The Respondent argues that the Referee erroneously permitted hearsay testimony by permitting Investigator Quintero to testify as to questions he asked of Norm Bragis at the Dade County Courthouse (TR 17) and by admitting Investigator Rodriguez' report into evidence.

In addition, Respondent argues that the Referee erred in permitting testimony by Investigator Rodriguez concerning his June, 1990 investigation of the Respondent (TR 41-52) and by admitting an unauthenticated computer print-out into evidence. (TR 22)

The Respondent does not argue that the evidentiary rulings by the Referee affected a substantial right of the Respondent except to state, with regard to the admission of Investigator Rodriguez' testimony, that 'it is obvious from the Referee's report that she must have relied upon the Rodriguez testimony in some fashion to "prove the complaint."' (Resp. Brief 33)

Without a showing that a substantial right of the Respondent has been affected by the Referee's ruling, the error, if any, should be deemed harmless. "Technical error, committed by a trial court in the reception or rejection of evidence, does not necessarily constitute harmful error. It is injury resulting from error that warrants an appellate court in reversing a judgment of the trial court." <u>Butler</u> v. State, 94 Fla. 163, 113 So. 699 (1927).

The Respondent has failed to allege, let alone demonstrate, any injury. For example, if the Referee did rely on certain aspects of Investigator Rodriguez' testimony to "prove the complaint," which findings of fact are attributable only to Rodriguez' testimony?

When Investigator Rodriguez began to testify at the final hearing, Respondent's counsel objected to the testimony arguing that the testimony of the witness was outside the parameters of the complaint and that the Respondent was not prepared to respond to "something that happened in June of 1990 when there has been no amendment to the complaint or anything of that nature." (TR 42) Bar Counsel responded by arguing that the activities of the Respondent have been continuing in nature and that in seeking injunctive relief it was important to show a continuing violation. (TR 42, 43)

The Referee, after hearing argument on the issue, allowed the testimony stating, "I will let you do it in the sense that it goes to the weight of the evidence, not to prove the complaint." (TR 43)

The Referee was aware of the limitations of the evidence presented and without specific examples from the Respondent showing where the Referee strayed from her ruling and relied solely on Investigator Rodriguez' testimony to support her findings of fact, the Respondent's objections should be rejected.

Additionally, the strict rules of evidence do not apply in cases tried by a referee. In Bar disciplinary cases, for example, hearsay is admissible and there is no right to confront witnesses face to face. The referee is not barred by the technical rules of evidence. <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> Vannier, 498 So.2d 986 (Fla. 1986).

Like disciplinary cases, unlicensed practice of law cases are partly administrative in nature. The Florida Supreme Court is not confined to act solely in its judicial capacity. "In addition, it acts in its administrative capacity as chief policy maker, regulating the administration of the court system and supervising all persons who are engaged in rendering legal services to members of the general public." Brumbaugh, supra, 355 So.2d at 1189.

Partly because of their administrative character, proceedings before a referee in the area of unlicensed practice of law are not governed by technical rules of evidence.

In the instant case, the referee recognized that the evidentiary rules were relaxed and properly admitted certain evidence after hearing arguments from counsel for both parties concerning its reliability and probative value. The Referee was made well aware of the limitations of the evidence presented.

As the Respondent has failed to demonstrate that the admitted evidence resulted in any injury to the Respondent, any technical error that may have been made by the referee should be deemed harmless error and the findings and recommendations of the Referee should be approved.

III. RULE 10-5.1(c)(6) REQUIRES THE REFEREE TO FILE A WRITTEN REPORT STATING, AMONG OTHER THINGS, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW.

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